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February 22, 2019 

 

 

Theresa Gruber 

Deputy Commissioner 

Social Security Administration 

Office of Hearings Operations 

6401 Security Blvd. 

560 Altmeyer Bldg. 

Baltimore, MD  21235 

 

RE: NTEU’s Institutional Grievance and Unfair Labor Practice (ULP) Charge 

 

Dear Ms. Gruber: 

 

             The National Treasury Employees Union (NTEU) hereby files this grievance/ULP 

pursuant to Article 28, Section 11.B of the parties’ SSA-NTEU National Agreement against the 

Social Security Administration (SSA or Agency). NTEU alleges that SSA has violated 5 U.S.C. 

§ 7116 (a) (1), (5) and (8), and the Telework Enhancement Act of 2010 by engaging in bad 

faith bargaining during the parties’ term bargaining.  As set forth more fully below, the 

Agency forced to impasse a permissive subject of bargaining, unilaterally implemented changes 

to the parties’ 2014 agreement, failed to approach negotiations with a sincere resolve to reach an 

agreement (e.g., surface bargaining), was unwilling to discuss the issues with an open mind, made 

proposals that violate the Telework Enhancement Act, and failed to provide information 

requested by NTEU pursuant to Section 7114(b)(4) of the Statute, for which NTEU has 

demonstrated a particularized need. 

 

In this case, SSA has made proposals that would have NTEU waive explicit statutory 

rights and are thus outside the scope of bargaining. For example, the agency's proposal 

concerning Article 17 (Telework) involves permissive subjects of bargaining. The Agency’s 

telework proposal would make all determinations regarding eligibility to telework discretionary 

for management.  Specifically, Section 3 states “The OHO Deputy Commissioner has the 

discretion to determine the number of scheduled telework days, if any, eligible positions, and 

percentage of employees permitted to telework.” Also, it leaves decisions about whether 

teleworking employees can enjoy other provisions of the contract such as earning credit hours, 

working 5/4/9 and 4/10 work schedules, overtime at the ADS, part time schedules, and working 

at the ADS on a non-tour day to the complete discretion of the Deputy Commissioner.  In doing 

so, the Agency’s proposal waives NTEU’s statutory right to bargain over a working condition 
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(i.e., telework), therefore making it a permissive subject of bargaining. The Authority has long 

held that a contractual waiver of bargaining rights constitutes a permissive subject of bargaining 

under the Statute. Federal Aviation Administration, Northwest Mountain Region, Seattle, 

Washington and Federal Aviation Administration, Washington, D.C., 14 FLRA 644 (1984). 

Therefore, SSA engaged in bad faith bargaining and committed an unfair labor practice in 

violation of 5 U.S.C. Section 7116(a)(1), (5), and (8) by taking this proposal to impasse and 

requesting Panel assistance.  The Agency’s Telework proposal also violates 5 U.S.C. 

6503(a)(3) of the Telework Enhancement Act of 2010 by treating teleworking employees 

different than non-teleworking employees. 

 

During term bargaining, NTEU proposed that the parties negotiate the addition of the 

maxi-flex schedule under the Federal Employee Flexible and Compressed Work Schedules 

Act (Work Schedules Act). The Authority has consistently held that proposals seeking to 

negotiate alternative work schedules are within the duty to bargain and enforceable under the 

Statute. See, e.g., United States, Dep't of Labor, Washington, D.C., 59 FLRA 131, 135 (2003). As 

provided under 5 U.S.C. Section 6131(a)-(c), an agency may object to the negotiation of an 

alternative work schedule (AWS) proposed by a labor organization only where the agency can 

establish that the proposed schedule will have an "adverse agency impact." AFGE, Local 

1934, 23 FLRA 872. SSA refused to bargain over the inclusion of a maxi-flex schedule with 

NTEU and has failed to identify any adverse agency impact. By refusing to proffer the agency 

adverse impact statement, SSA violated 5 U.S.C. Section 6120, et seq, engaged in bad faith 

bargaining and committed an unfair labor practice in violation of Section 7116(a) (1), (5), and 

(8) of the Statute.   

 

Additionally, throughout term bargaining, SSA has made it clear that the Agency had 

no interest in bargaining language tailored specifically to the unit NTEU represents. Rather 

than acknowledging that NTEU was the only union at this bargaining table, SSA continuously 

stated it would not consider and/or agree to language that was not consistent with language 

the Agency claims to have negotiated with the American Federation of Government 

Employees (AFGE). Furthermore, the Agency bargained pursuant to the May 25, 2018, 

Executive Orders issued by President Trump. Despite the U.S. District Court ruling the Executive 

Orders illegal, the Agency refused to change their proposals that aligned with the illegal Executive 

Orders (e.g., prohibiting the use of official time for lobbying, and limiting issues the Union is 

entitled to grieve). In addition to refusing to change their proposals, the Agency failed to express 

its demonstrated need for its proposals and did not provide any supporting documentation for the 

changes. In totality, this indicates the Agency did not have an open mind and approached 

negotiation with no sincere resolve to reach agreement. Accordingly, the totality of the 

circumstances demonstrates that the Agency has engaged in bad faith bargaining in violation 

of Section 7116(a) (1), (5), (6), and (8) of the Statute. 

 

NTEU filed an information request pursuant to Section 7114(b)(4) of the Statute on 

July 26, 2018. On August 28, 2018, NTEU transmitted a modified information request that 

addressed the concerns cited in SSA’s August 2, 2018 response to NTEU’s request for 

information. SSA refused to furnish nearly all of the information requested. SSA has a duty 

to provide the data requested in the August 28, 2018 information request, because the data 

requested is normally maintained by the agency in its regular course of business, the data is 
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reasonably available and necessary for full and proper discussion of subjects within the scope 

of collective bargaining, and the data does not constitute guidance, advice counsel, or training 

provided for management officials or  supervisors. By its failure to produce the data requested 

in the August 28, 2018 information request, SSA has violated 5 U.S.C. § 7116(a)(l), by 

interfering with or restraining employees in the exercise of their rights under the Federal 

Service Labor-Management Relations Statute, and 5 U.S.C. § 7116(a)(1), (5) and (8), by 

failing to comply with 5 U.S.C. § 7114(b)(4) and respond to the information request. The 

Agency has not identified any countervailing anti-disclosure interest in response to the 

Union’s information request.  

 

On or around November 5, 2018, SSA unilaterally implemented the Office of Personnel 

Management (OPM) final regulations, published at 5 CFR 630. When NTEU demanded to bargain 

over these changes, the Agency refused to bargain over the changes to the 2014 contract and ceased 

bargaining over any related proposals for the successor agreement. The Agency’s unilateral 

changes violate the parties’ 2018 Ground Rules MOU which requires mutual agreement for a 

section or Article to be implemented prior to the conclusion of negotiations. SSA also concurrently 

made changes to the Telework Agreement employees signed (e.g., Made employees sign new 

telework agreements with the new Weather and Safety guidelines), thus impacting the parties’ 

current Telework article. By its actions, SSA has violated Article 33 of the parties’ Agreement and 

5 U.S.C. 7116(a)(1), (5), (7) and (8) of the Statute by engaging in bad faith bargaining, and 

unilaterally implementing changes to the parties’ 2014 National Agreement.  

  

 The Agency also engaged in regressive bargaining tactics such as reneging on language the 

parties agreed to (e.g., SSA reneged on language addressing Weather and Safety Leave and instead 

proposed a condensed version which does not allow bargaining unit employees to know their 

rights). SSA also made proposals that were punitive and unsupported (e.g., SSA proposed NTEU 

waive its rights to grieve adverse actions). SSA insisted on NTEU accepting Management 

proposals with minor tweaks (i.e., The Agency would only entertain management’s proposals that 

included small revisions from the Union that were not substantive or beneficial language to 

NTEU). Management engaged in this tactic whenever a new “package deal” was proposed by the 

Agency. In these “package deal” proposals, SSA took an unreasonable stance (e.g., Reducing the 

units official time bank from 16,000 hours for the fiscal year down to 1,500 hours and proposing 

a 7-year contract with no reopeners). Additionally, SSA insisted on only negotiating over these 

“package deals” and refused to negotiate over individual articles. SSA made it clear if NTEU 

approached negotiations with the mindset of walking through individual articles to see where 

agreements could be reached, SSA would declare the parties at impasse.  

 

 Lastly, the Agency violated the parties’ 2018 Ground Rules MOU. The ground rules states: 

 

If the Parties are unable to reach agreement by the end of the negotiation sessions 

designated in Section V, or any additional negotiation sessions agreed to by the Parties, 

the Parties will resume negotiations at the OHO Headquarters in Woodlawn, MD with 

the assistance of the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service (FMCS) at the dates 

and times to be mutually agreed to by the Parties and/or the mediator. 
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Despite this language, SSA contacted the Federal Mediation Conciliation Service (FMCS) as early 

as the second bargaining session of five scheduled sessions. Although NTEU made it clear that the 

parties did not exhaust all efforts to reach an agreement and protested the assistance of a mediator, 

SSA insisted on having FMCS attend to expedite the bargaining process. By its actions, SSA has 

violated the 2018 Ground Rules MOU and 5 USC 7116(a)(1), (5), (7) and (8) of the Statute by 

engaging in bad faith bargaining.  

 

Accordingly, NTEU requests that an Arbitrator impose the following remedies: 

(1) Order SSA to cease and desist from engaging in bad faith bargaining in violation 

of 5 U.S.C. Section 7116(a)(l), (5) and (8);  

(2) Order a status quo ante remedy;  

(3) Order the agency to rescind its last best offers and return to the term bargaining 

table with NTEU on mutually agreed upon dates;  

(4) Order SSA to bargain in good faith;  

(5) Direct SSA to promptly respond to all information requests submitted by NTEU, 

and provide all documentation and material that NTEU has requested;  

(6) Post a notice of a violation of the Statute, signed by the Acting Commissioner, for a 

period of sixty (60) days. This notice should be displayed on all SSA bulletin boards 

(both physical and electronic) for the entire sixty (60)-day period; and 

(7) Grant any other appropriate remedy to which NTEU is entitled under law, rule 

and regulation. 

 

NTEU’s representative in this matter will be Frank Barczykowski, Deputy Director of 

Negotiations.  Frank can be reached via e-mail at Frank.Barczykowski@nteu.org. Pursuant to 

Article 11, § B, a written decision addressed to me and our designated representatives is due within 

twenty (20) work days of receipt of this grievance. 

 

  

Sincerely,  

 

/S/  

Anthony M. Reardon  

National President  

 

 

 

cc: Ken Moffett, Director of Negotiations  

Frank Barczykowski, Deputy Director of Negotiations  

Brandon Braithwaite, Assistant Counsel for Negotiations  

Eric Bruce, Assistant Counsel  

Christie Saunders, Chapter 224 President 
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